



Vol xxxiv Nos. 10

October 2015

THE EMERGENCE OF ISLAMIC STATE: IMPLICATIONS FOR PAKISTAN AND AFGHANISTAN

MASOOD UR REHMAN KHATTAK, MANZOOR KHAN AFRIDI, AND HUSNUL AMIN

INSTITUTE OF REGIONAL STUDIES ISLAMABAD

CONTENTS

Introduction	2
The emergence of Islamic State: A brief overview	3
Is Islamic State a threat to Pakistan?	6
The IS nexus with the militant groups in Pakistan	7
The rise of Islamic State and its implications for Afghanistan	10
The IS and the Afghan Taliban	12
Conclusion and recommendations	15
Regional coalition	16
Enhanced intelligence cooperation	16
Building a counter-narrative	16
Reconstruction and development	17
Curb terrorist financing in this region	18
Enhance Af-Pak border security	18
Training of Afghan security forces	19
Notes and References	21

THE EMERGENCE OF ISLAMIC STATE: IMPLICATIONS FOR PAKISTAN AND AFGHANISTAN

MASOOD UR REHMAN KHATTAK, MANZOOR KHAN AFRIDI, AND HUSNUL AMIN^{*}

Introduction

The emergence of Islamic State (IS) in Iraq and Syria would have far reaching implications for global peace and security. The quick rise of IS in Iraq and Syria not only jeopardized peace in both the states but also endangered the security and territorial integrity of other regional countries. The agenda of IS militants is not confined to the borders of Iraq and Syria; they want to capture areas once under Muslim empire to ultimately establish a global caliphate according to their own strict version of Islam.

The spill-over of the IS to South Asia would have a wide range of implications for Pakistan and its neighbouring states. The IS militants would get support of the likeminded militant organizations in Pakistan that may help them to establish their foothold. It would not be easy for the organisation though. Since 2002, Pakistan's military has carried out numerous operations against different

Mr. Masood ur Rehman Khattak is Lecturer at the Department of Politics and International Relations in International Islamic University Islamabad, Prof. Manzoor Khan Afridi is Head of the Department of Politics and International Relations in International Islamic University, Islamabad, and Dr Husnul Amin is Assistant Professor at the Department of Politics and International Relations in International Islamic University Islamabad.

transnational militant groups to dismantle their sanctuaries, including: the Tehriki-Taliban Pakistan (TTP), the Islamic Movement of Uzbekistan (IMU), Al-Qaeda, East Turkestan Islamic Movement (ETIM), and several other local militant outfits. Now these militant groups mainly operate from Afghanistan. The IS would get the support of these militant groups in terms of new recruits, planning, propaganda, and on-ground tactical help.

The Islamic State is the wealthiest militant organisation in the world; it can provide funds to cash-strapped militant organizations, which might work to benefit them. In such a scenario, more and more radical groups as well as individuals from Pakistan might join Islamic State for monetary benefits if nothing else. Militant outfits like the TTP have faced huge setbacks in military operations. They lost their central command and control centres, communication networks, and most importantly their operational bases. The IS funds would put a new life into the TTP and would help them in reorganization and fresh recruitment, which could result in a new wave of violence engulfing Pakistan. The TTP and other affiliated militant organizations could then carry out attacks against Pakistani security forces, government installations, rival sects, and religious minorities more lethally. Therefore, it is important to understand the emergence of IS and its subsequent impact on Afghanistan and Pakistan.

The emergence of Islamic State: A brief overview

The emergence of the Islamic State (IS) in Iraq and Syria is the result of US intervention in Iraq in 2003, which resulted in dismantling of the Saddam regime as well as an unending violence in the country. Militant groups like Al-Qaeda also jumped in Iraqi insurgency and formed Al-Qaeda in Iraq (AQI) led by a Jordanian militant Abu Musab Al-Zarqawi. He continued to be the commander of AQI until his death in an airstrike by the US military in 2006.¹

After his death, the AQI faced huge setbacks. In 2010, Abu Bakr Al-Baghdadi took the command of this group. Abu Bakr Al-Baghdadi reformed and reorganized AQI to give rise to the organisation now known as the Islamic State of Iraq and Syria (ISIS) or the Islamic State of Iraq and Levant or (ISIL).² After the abrupt withdrawal of the US forces in 2011, the Iraqi military was unable to control the resurgence of ISIS. Another reason of IS victory was the marginalization of Sunni tribes.³ In 2013, the IS-led violence was at its peak in which over 7,000 people lost their lives. Mostly Shia Muslims and non-Muslims were targeted by the IS.⁴

Ultimately in 2014, the ISIS in a well-coordinated and swift attack captured the key town of Mosul about 400 kilometres north of the capital Baghdad.⁵ In Syria it managed to capture Raqqa, a town with strategic significance about 445 kilometres north-east of the capital Damascus.⁶ It was around this time that the IS militants declared caliphate in Iraq and Syria.⁷ The Iraqi troops left their positions as well as weapons and fled. After capturing Mosul, the ISIS militants renamed the group as Islamic State and proclaimed caliphate in Iraq with Abu Bakr Al-Baghdadi as the so-called caliph.⁸ This was the time the Islamic State started attracting foreign fighters in great numbers. According to some estimates more than 20,000 foreign fighters from over 90 countries – including around 3,400 fighters from the US and other Western countries – are fighting alongside the IS.⁹ Such a development makes IS a truly transnational militant organisation. To counter this unprecedented threat to global peace and security, the US-led alliance of over 60 countries is carrying out airstrikes against IS in Iraq and Syria.

Recently, Russia has also got militarily involved in the conflict. Russian aircraft bombed the IS positions in Raqqa and Aleppo and significantly degraded the IS capabilities. There are also allegations by the US that Russian airstrikes are aimed at anti-Bashar al-Assad groups instead of the Islamic State.¹⁰ According to

Russia it has achieved significant success in recent airstrikes and destroyed most of the IS ammunition and heavy weaponry. According to Russian military it has destroyed several targets of the Islamic State.¹¹ Although Russian claims could not be verified independently, consistent Russian airstrikes coinciding with ground offensive by the Syrian military would weaken the IS position in Syria and Iraq.

Russia is not part of US led coalition against IS but a major stakeholder in the Syrian conflict. Russia is involved in the Syrian conflict because of three main reasons: First, Russia wants to protect its ally Bashar al-Assad in Syria.¹² Second, Russia got a naval base in Syria which is strategically important for the Russian military to remain relevant in this region.¹³ Third, Russia is also suffering from terrorism back home. There is a possibility that Islamic State militants may try to approach Chechen militants in Russia to consolidate their position in Caucasus region.¹⁴

The developments in the Middle East have not, however, stopped them from trying to exert influence in other regions. Many militant groups around the globe have accepted Abu Bakr Al-Baghdadi as their caliph and pledged allegiance to him. Especially some key TTP commanders in Pakistan and Boko Haram in Nigeria announced their allegiance to Abu Bakr Al-Baghdadi.¹⁵ The Islamic State is opening new branches in other countries in order to accomplish its goal of global caliphate.

Funding is the backbone of every militant organization, and IS does not seem wanting in this regard. They have got multiple sources of income, which include: kidnapping for ransom, extortion, oil sales on black market, donations from likeminded people, human and antique smuggling, and drug trade.¹⁶ Such a huge financial base could not only help IS in sustaining insurgency in Iraq and Syria, but also in supporting other militant groups and affiliates in other regions around the globe.

The emergence of IS in Iraq and Syria would have far-reaching implications for Pakistan and Afghanistan. Both states are suffering from religiously motivated terrorism and extremism led by Afghan and Pakistani Taliban, Al-Qaeda, and other affiliated groups. Thousands of people have lost their lives to terrorism, and financial cost to both countries is also gigantic. For instance, Pakistan has lost over 80,000 people in the war against terror since 2005.¹⁷ The financial cost to the country is over \$100 billion.¹⁸ Afghanistan is no different from Pakistan. The US spent over \$1 trillion on the country but the security situation in Afghanistan is still worse than Pakistan.¹⁹ There are several likeminded extremist organizations in both countries which could work as a launch-pad for the Islamic state.

Is Islamic State a threat to Pakistan?

Pakistan is a fertile country for extremist groups because of the presence of numerous extremist organisations and their support networks among the likeminded segments of the society. The nuclear weapon state was once known as a safe haven for militant groups like Al-Qaeda, Taliban, IMU, as well as dangerous local sectarian organizations like Lashkar-e-Jhangvi (LeJ) and others. After its emergence in Iraq, the IS published a roadmap for the next five years. The document refers to the region where Pakistan and Afghanistan are located as "Khorasan." The Islamic State has formed a ten-member Strategic Planning Wing, which would be responsible for recruitment, planning, funding, and training of the militants under the banner of IS in Pakistan.²⁰

According to a report of the provincial government of Balochistan, the IS militants have recruited between 10,000 and 12,000 fighters from Hangu in Khyber-Pakhtunkhwa province, and Kurram Agency and some other areas in the Federally Administered Tribal Areas (FATA).²¹ After concerted efforts and successful military operations by Pakistani military and intelligence agencies, the

TTP-linked militants lost their ground. Since they are on the run, they are happy to get IS support in Pakistan.

The IS nexus with the militant groups in Pakistan

The IS possesses huge financial resources and militant organisations in Pakistan are now short of funds because of the continuous operations by Pakistan's security forces. This naturally attracts them to each other. In fact the IS militants are planning to establish local chapters in many countries around the globe, and in Pakistan their "Khorasan" branch would recruit locals to carry out terrorist activities against Pakistan's security forces, religious minorities, other sects of Islam, and public places.

The banned militant organisation Tehrik-i-Taliban Pakistan (TTP) led by Maulana Fazalullah faced huge setbacks in the recent military operations by the Pakistan military. The TTP militants lost their safe havens in North Waziristan and now Pakistan army is controlling most of the FATA.²² There are reports that some TTP commanders from FATA accepted Abu Bakr Al-Baghdadi as their caliph. Former spokesman of TTP Shahid Ullah Shahid said in a statement, "I am going to announce my allegiance to Al-Baghdadi al-Qarshi. I will obey his every command, whether good or bad and whatever the situation. Neither the TTP nor its leader Maulana Fazalullah has directed me to announce my allegiance to the ISIS, but I and five senior leaders have decided to join al-Baghdadi al-Qarshi."²³

The other five TTP men who announced allegiance to Abu Bakr Al-Baghdadi were key commanders: Hafiz Saeed Khan who operated from Orakzai Agency; Hafiz Daulat Khan who was TTP commander in Kurram Agency; Maulana Gul Zaman who was controlling the affairs in Khyber Agency; Mufti Hassaan who was the TTP commander for Peshawar; and Khalid Mansoor who was responsible for Hangu.²⁴ In addition to this, TTP commander from Bajaur, Maulana Abu Bakar, his deputy Qari Zahid, and affiliates, commanders, fighters, religious advisors, and Shura have accepted Abu Bakr Al-Baghdadi as their caliph.²⁵

Two recent terrorist attacks in Karachi pointed towards the IS connection in Pakistan. The security forces found IS leaflets after the failed assassination attempt on Dr Debra Lobo, the American Vice Principal of the Jinnah Medical and Dental College in Karachi, as well as the target killing of 44 people of the minority Ismaili Muslim community in the city.²⁶ After the preliminary investigation, the security forces captured a few people allegedly linked with Al-Qaeda, which shows that likeminded militant organizations or people are carrying out terrorist attacks and use the brand name of the Islamic State.²⁷

Lashkar-e-Jhangvi (LeJ) is another militant organization in Pakistan that could join hands with the Islamic State.²⁸ Formed in 1996, the group is designated as a terrorist organisation by the governments of Pakistan and the United States, and has been involved in several sectarian attacks. Some estimates suggest that LeJ has over 1,000 active members.²⁹

The IS and LeJ are ideologically very similar. LeJ has carried out some of the deadliest attacks against Shia Muslims in Pakistan. The IS militants want to exploit their sectarian connection in Pakistan. Recently a militant group linked with IS in Karachi carried out a deadly attack targeting the Shia community in which 47 people were killed.³⁰ The Islamic State is an overtly sectarian organization and its strategy of attacking Shia Muslims in Iraq has worked due to weak Iraqi security apparatus. The IS militants exploited the power vacuum to create instability and ultimately established their control over major towns in Iraq.

The IS was successful in creating a sectarian clash between the Shia and Sunni tribes which ultimately destabilized Iraq. The Iraqi security forces were weak, ill-trained, and least motivated, which paved the way for the highly trained, motivated, and well-equipped fighters of the IS to acquire physical space in Iraq and Syria. The Islamic State in collaboration with the TTP and LeJ might ignite sectarian violence in Pakistan.³¹ It is expected that the Shia Muslims along with Ahmedis and Christians could bear the brunt of the emergence of IS in Pakistan. The government of Pakistan must take concrete measures to ensure the security of minorities and all other sects.

Pakistan's militant groups want to join hands with IS for monetary benefits. An effective campaign by Pakistan security forces has destroyed the command and control centres of these militants as well as their safe havens and financial assets. Now they are short of funds and the Islamic State is currently the wealthiest militant organisation in the world that can provide them with funds.

Pakistan's military does not consider the emergence of IS a threat though. Corps Commander of the XI Corps (Peshawar) Lieutenant General Hidayat-Ur-Rehman, said, "For us it's just a change of name, and there is no need for Pakistanis to worry. There are several defections in the Taliban now, which are becoming part of Daesh (IS). But we're well aware of the situation and are able to tackle them effectively."³² Chief of Army Staff of the Pakistan Army General Raheel Sharif, during his visit to the Royal United Services Institute for Defence and Security Studies London, said that Pakistan would not allow even the shadow of Islamic State in the country.³³ The recent military operation in North Waziristan and intelligence-based operations in Karachi and other parts of the country prove the seriousness of Pakistan's security forces to eliminate militancy from Pakistan.

Pakistan military has been fighting these militants since 9/11; they know their strategies, and tactics. The denial of safe havens to militants in FATA would be a major challenge for the IS to establish its foothold in Pakistan. Moreover, the security apparatus in settled districts of the country is much better than before. It would be very difficult for the IS-linked militants to establish their network in settled areas. There is a greater seriousness on the part of the government to eradicate militancy from Pakistan. Owing to the military operation in North Waziristan, the overall security situation in the country has considerably improved. According to Inter Services Public Relations, 2,763 militants have been killed in the year-long Operation Zarb-i-Azb. More than 837 safe havens have been destroyed and 253 tons of explosives have been recovered.³⁴ According to Pakistan Institute for Conflict and Security Studies (PICSS) — an independent Islamabad-based think tank — terrorist attacks in the country have decreased by 50 per cent from 154 per month before the Operation Zarb-i-Azb to 71 per month after one year of the operation.³⁵ Since the onset of the military operations in 2009, the TTP command, control, and communication network has been seriously disrupted. With more than 160,000 regular army personnel deployed in FATA, getting a physical space by the IS-linked militants in tribal areas would be difficult.³⁶

Notwithstanding the odds stacked against them by Pakistan's security force, the Islamic State and its affiliates would aim to target Pakistani military and other security forces though. They could aim their violence against the police, rangers, and the paramilitary Frontier Corps (FC) because these forces dislodged the TTP and other militant organizations from their safe havens. The IS and their cronies in Pakistan would like to demoralize the Pakistani security forces by carrying out terrorist attacks on senior officers, their families, and military installations etc. The IS and its linked militant groups in Pakistan would also want to find a refuge in the tribal areas of Pakistan. Without a physical space it would be difficult for the IS or its affiliates to operationalize their plans on a larger scale in this region. They need a base for training, planning, regrouping, and reorganization.

The rise of Islamic State and its implications for Afghanistan

Afghanistan is a very weak war-ravaged country with feeble security forces, fragile economy, and an active insurgency. Ethnic divide in Afghanistan

further complicates the affairs. The Islamic State in its larger plans includes expansion to other areas, such as what it calls "Khorasan" that includes Afghanistan, Pakistan, and parts of Iran and Central Asia. Afghanistan being an unstable country would be an ideal place for the IS militants to establish their command and control centre.³⁷ Afghanistan would provide them physical space and on-ground bases with its large swathes of lawless, ungoverned, and remote areas. The surfacing of the Islamic State in Afghanistan would be devastating for a country already in turmoil. The IS in Afghanistan would make some ground because of the power vacuum after the withdrawal of the US forces.

The operations led by the US in Iraq and Syria have degraded IS capabilities. Thousands of IS fighters have been killed in the airstrikes by the US and its allies. The Islamic State is also looking for new recruits who can help sustain its insurgency in Iraq and Syria. It also needs recruits for its plans of expansion in "Khorasan." The commander of NATO forces in Afghanistan General John F Campbell once said, "There's recruiting going on in Afghanistan, there is recruiting going on in Pakistan. There is money being passed back and forth."³⁸ But they are passing through initial phase of organization, and are not yet fully operational.³⁹ It is expected, however, that if serious steps are not taken, the militants linked with the IS could pose a serious threat to the safety and security of this region. There are reports of the IS presence in Helmand, Faryab, and Nangarhar provinces.⁴⁰

The US military is cognizant of the presence of Islamic State in Afghanistan. According to the US assessment, the IS militants are establishing their network in Afghanistan. Despite the fact that they are small in number right now, they have got plans to establish their control in Afghanistan.⁴¹ Even the Afghan President warned the US and the international community that Islamic State is making ground in Afghanistan, and is recruiting and pouring funds in the country to establish its foothold.⁴²

The IS had designated Mullah Abdul Rauf, a former Taliban commander, for recruitment and reorganization in the Helmand province.⁴³ Later, he was appointed as the deputy commander for the region. On 9 February 2015, he was killed in drone strike.⁴⁴ His death did not mean the end of IS in the Afghanistan-Pakistan region though. The senior most commander of the IS for this region now is Saeed Khan from Orakzai Agency in Pakistan.⁴⁵ The IS in Afghanistan would soon replace Mullah Rauf and come up with a new leader. According to another report, the IS has taken control of five northern provinces of Afghanistan and is also controlling the drug trade in the south.⁴⁶

There are over 1,000 IS militants in these areas – predominantly Uzbeks and Chechens – and their numbers are growing day by day. The IS-linked militants are exploiting its natural and mineral resources in Afghanistan such as Lithium, which is in abundance in certain areas of Afghanistan and probably the target of IS militants to generate funds.⁴⁷

Under the Bilateral Security Agreement (BSA) between Afghanistan and the US, the US-led alliance would not station more than 14,800 troops in Afghanistan.⁴⁸ Such a meagre force cannot stop IS emergence in Afghanistan.

The IS and the Afghan Taliban

It would not be easy for the IS to establish its bases or training camps in Afghanistan because it would have to face a three-pronged challenge. The first challenge comes from the US-led coalition. It is hammering its fighters in Iraq and Syria, and is not going to let it acquire physical space in Afghanistan. The second challenge comes from the Afghan national security forces. The third, and perhaps more important, challenge is posed by the Afghan Taliban. Afghanistan is the home of Afghan Taliban, and they would never allow any militant group to replace them or undermine their role in the country. There were reports of clashes between the IS militants and Taliban for the control of certain areas. In Farah province the IS militants established a training camp and recruited around 600 people. Soon after, the Afghan Taliban besieged the camp and outnumbered IS militants. After heavy fighting, the IS militants ultimately surrendered and were banished from the province.⁴⁹

The IS militants could establish connections with militant groups other than the Taliban, like the IMU and ETIM. The leader of Hizb-i-Islami, Gulbuddin Hekmatyar, has extended his support to IS militants in Afghanistan.⁵⁰ The support of Hizb-i-Islami could accelerate IS recruitment in Afghanistan and create serious challenges for the internal security of the country.

The IS militants possess a vast amount of cash and a transnational image, which may attract the local militant groups to break away with Taliban and join hands with it. The militants in Afghanistan would compare the Afghan Taliban and Islamic State. The Afghan Taliban is focused on Afghanistan. They do not have any plans for establishing a global caliphate in the near future. Whereas the IS militants have declared that they want to regain the lost territories once under Muslim empires. They might consider Abu Bakr Al-Baghdadi greater in status than Mullah Omar because the former has got wider support of the other militant organizations and a larger base of operations, whereas Mullah Omar and his successor are considered as leader of Afghan and Pakistani Taliban only.

Afghanistan is a poverty-stricken country where significant proportion of the population lives below the poverty line. According to an estimate, 36 per cent of the Afghan population lives below the poverty line with monthly income not exceeding \$30.⁵¹ In addition to this 68 per cent of the Afghan population is under the age of 25.⁵² This makes the youthful population of the country productive if utilized properly and destructive if used otherwise. With high unemployment rate and rampant poverty, Afghanistan is a fertile land for militancy. The slain leader of the Islamic State in Afghanistan, Mullah Rauf, offered \$500 per month to a

new recruit in Helmand province.⁵³ The IS militants could get thousands of recruits for their terrorist activities in Afghanistan because of widespread poverty and unemployment. It could pose a serious challenge to the US-led alliance, Afghan government, and the Taliban insurgents.

Afghanistan is lucrative for the Islamic State because of its drug trade. Afghanistan is a hub of opium production and drug trade, which generate billions of dollars. According to an estimate, Afghanistan cultivates more than 94 per cent and produces about 95 per cent of the world's opium.⁵⁴ Taliban alone generate \$100 to \$155 million per annum from drug trade.⁵⁵ More than 16.5 million people around the world use illicit drugs annually, generating an estimated US \$68 billion worldwide in opiate market.⁵⁶ The IS wants to exploit this area to generate funds for its operations in this region and beyond. If the Islamic State militants establish their firm control in Afghanistan, they might not need any other source of funding because the drug trade would alone be sufficient for them.

The IS militants carry a legacy of attacking rival sects and minorities. In Iraq they have carried out hundreds of suicide attacks against the Shia population and the Yazidi Tribes. In Pakistan their affiliates are involved in sectarian violence. There is a possibility that the Shia Muslims in Afghanistan may also bear the brunt of their brutal tactics. Recently the Hazara community in Afghanistan approached the Taliban for protection against the Islamic State after two incidents of kidnapping of Hazaras (predominantly Shia) by masked men linked with the Islamic State.⁵⁷ According to the Deputy Police Chief of Zabul province Ghulam Jillani Farahi, the Islamic State militants were behind this kidnapping. The drivers of the buses said that the abductors spoke a foreign language and wore black masks and dresses. The Afghan Taliban had also denied their involvement in this incident.⁵⁸ In such a situation, the Shia Muslims along with other minorities might face a greater risk from the emergence of IS in Afghanistan.

Conclusion and recommendations

The IS militants are trying to establish their foothold in Pakistan and Afghanistan. They need physical space in these two countries to carry out their terrorist activities in the region. The IS wants to establish its control over the area it terms as "Khorasan," because IS considers it necessary for the achievement of its larger goal of establishing a global caliphate.

The IS militants have already made inroads into Pakistan and Afghanistan. The IS cannot take control of territories in Pakistan, because Pakistan possesses a strong military and security forces apparatus. Pakistan's military has demonstrated its capabilities against TTP-linked militants in tribal areas. It would be difficult for the IS to defeat Pakistan military and take control of FATA or any other part of the country and use it as a safe haven. But the IS can disrupt peace in Pakistan and Afghanistan by carrying out terrorist activities on a limited scale in collaboration with their likeminded militant groups like the offshoots of Al-Qaeda, TTP, LeJ, defectors from Afghan Taliban, IMU, ETIM, and the Chechen militants in Pakistan and Afghanistan.

Afghanistan, on the other hand, might be a soft target for the IS where it might get some physical space in remote areas where there is no firm control of the Afghan government. The IS militants would face a challenge from the Afghan Taliban though. It would not be possible for the IS to establish its power in the Taliban-controlled areas. Afghan Taliban inflicted heavy losses on IS militants in a direct clash in the Farah province. On the other hand, however, the capabilities of the IS to carry out terrorist attacks in Afghanistan cannot be ignored. There is a need for a coordinated and comprehensive strategy by Pakistan, Afghanistan, America, and regional states to neutralize this militant group for long-term peace and stability of the region. Here are a few suggestions for countering the threat of IS in the region.

Regional coalition

The Islamic State is a transnational militant organisation with huge financial resources and affiliates around the globe. It poses an unprecedented challenge to the global peace and security. The level of threat posed by the IS demands a comprehensive strategy at the regional and global level. Although under the leadership of the US many countries have come up to counter this threat in Iraq and Syria, it would not be enough. In Afghanistan and Pakistan, the situation demands a different strategy. Here the IS militants are not controlling large territories as they do in Iraq and Syria. Nevertheless, the threat of Islamic State is emerging after the allegiance of the local militant commanders to it. All regional actors like: China, Central Asian states, Iran, Pakistan, and Russia want a peaceful and stable Afghanistan for long-term peace and development.⁵⁹ All these regional states must help and support Afghanistan – as well as Pakistan – in its endeavour to eradicate this menace.

Enhanced intelligence cooperation

The Islamic State has proved to be an effective and well organized force. This is the reason it was able to exploit the weak areas of Iraqi and Syrian security forces. To defeat such a force there is a need for enhanced intelligence sharing and coordination among all stakeholders. Pakistan and Afghanistan have already signed a joint intelligence sharing pact to improve intelligence sharing and enhance coordination between them.⁶⁰ Such collaboration would help both the states in overcoming this threat collectively, and timely action would help curb Islamic State network in this region.

Building a counter-narrative

The role of religious scholars cannot be ignored in countering terrorism. There have been many decrees by the religious scholars against IS ideology.⁶¹ A counter-narrative must be built around such decrees with supportive arguments from the Holy Quran and *Sunnah* (traditions of Prophet Muhammad (PBUH)). There is no room for brutality or extremism in Islam. Islam is a religion of peace and it does not preach violence and terrorism. The true picture of Islam should be revived in respective Muslim countries. Saudi Arabia and Pakistan have been employing this strategy of de-radicalization and counter extremism in their respective countries with great success.⁶² These two countries may take the lead in devising a counter-narrative to the IS ideology which is logically supported with Quran and *Sunnah*.

Reconstruction and development

Militant organizations like the Islamic State, Al-Qaeda, Boko Haram, Al-Shebab, and TTP target impoverished societies. For instance, Al-Qaeda established its foothold in countries like Somalia, Afghanistan, and Yemen. The TTP was successful in making inroads in FATA, a less developed area as compared to the rest of the country. According to the 1998 census, the adult male literacy rate in FATA was 17 per cent.⁶³ In such impoverished societies, militant organizations with money and a self-styled version of Islam brainwash people for their own objectives.

It is necessary for the regional and global stakeholders that after rooting out Islamic State from Pakistan and Afghanistan they must develop these areas, so that no militant group would penetrate these societies again. Pakistan and Afghanistan depend on each other. Pakistan is the largest trading partner of Afghanistan with bilateral trade of \$2 billion.⁶⁴ Pakistan can play an important role in the development and revitalization of Afghan economy. Afghanistan can benefit from the developing Gwadar Port of Pakistan and transit its goods to the rest of the world, whereas, Pakistan can have access to resource-rich Central Asian states via Afghanistan for trade and investment. Mutual collaboration for trade and investment would bring peace and prosperity in Afghanistan and

Pakistan. Development and reconstruction would deny space to militant groups like IS for recruitment, funding, or regrouping in both states.

Curb terrorist financing in this region

The Islamic State is the wealthiest terrorist group in the world. On the basis of its immense financial assets it is helping other terrorist organizations, and establishing its branches in other countries. There is a dire need to curb Islamic State's financing. The US and some other countries have taken some action to disrupt illegal oil sales of the IS militants but the latter have got many other sources of funding. Those sources of funding could only be disrupted with collective effort by regional and global community. The drug trade, human trafficking, charities, natural resources, and extortion on the main highways generate millions of dollars for IS annually. All these sources of funds need to be curbed to halt the advance of the Islamic State militants. In Afghanistan, the IS militants focus on the drug trade. The lucrative drug trade in Afghanistan could generate additional millions of dollars for them. Pakistan, along with other regional states, must take concrete steps to control drug trade originating from this region. Main supply routes of this drug trade are from Pakistan, Iran, and Central Asian states. All these countries must work together and coordinate their operations against drug mafia.

Enhance Pak-Afghan Border Security

Pakistan's border with Afghanistan was considered the most dangerous place on earth because of the lawlessness and safe havens of the different militant groups.⁶⁵ The situation on the border has improved after a concerted military campaign by Pakistan. Pakistan and Afghanistan must take collective measures to improve coordination along the border areas. Both countries must increase the number of check-posts along the border and enhance vigilance to keep an eye on the movement of militant groups.

Pakistan's military has started Operation Zarb-i-Azb in 2014 and successfully dislodged militants from the North Waziristan tribal agency. Now the militants linked with TTP, Al-Qaeda, IMU, and Afghan Taliban are on the run, operating only from Afghanistan. The Afghan military must take concrete steps and deny safe havens to fleeing militants in Nuristan, Kunar, Nangarhar, and Khowst provinces. Joint collaboration between Pakistan and Afghanistan would improve border security and disallow groups like TTP or IS to establish their networks in these areas.

Training of Afghan security forces

Since the Afghan forces are facing a two-pronged threat, one from the Afghan Taliban, and the other from the emerging IS, it is essential for the regional states to help in training of the Afghan National Army and the Afghan National Police. The US-led alliance is taking the lead in training the Afghan National Security forces. The signing of BSA is a good omen for Afghanistan. Under this agreement, the US and its allies not only bear the financial cost of Afghan military but also train them on modern lines, and improve their fighting skills and overall operational capabilities.⁶⁶

Pakistan military is a professional and well-trained force, its help would be crucial for Afghanistan. Pakistan has already offered to train Afghan national security forces.⁶⁷ The Afghan security forces can learn from Pakistan's counter insurgency experiences. Such collaboration would improve overall operational capabilities of the Afghan national security forces against Islamic State in Afghanistan and it would help them in facing this unprecedented threat efficiently.

Notes and References

- ¹ Mohamed El-Shibiny, *Iraq: A Lost War* (Palgrave Macmillan, June 2010), p.133.
- ² Helen Thorpe, *Soldier Girls: The Battles of Three Women at Home and at War* (New York: Simon and Schuster, 2014), p.396.
- ³ William Young, et al, *Spillover from the Conflict in Syria: An Assessment of the Factors that Aid and Impede the Spread of Violence* (Santa Monica: Rand Corporation, 2014), p.43.
- ⁴ Joseph Spark, *Atrocities Committed by ISIS in Syria & Iraq: ISIL/Islamic State/Daesh* (Conceptual Kings, 2014), p.4.
- ⁵ Steve Stone, *ISIS Dawn: Special Forces War in Syria and Iraq* (Digital Dreams Publishing, 2014), p.290.
- ⁶ Jason S Belcher, *Aftermath: Rebuilding Global Security after a Century of Warfare* (Post Hill Press, 2014), p.7.
- ⁷ Julide Karakoc, *Authoritarianism in the Middle East: Before and After the Arab Uprisings* (Palgrave Macmillan, 2015), p.3.
- ⁸ Erick Stakelbeck, *ISIS Exposed: Beheadings, Slavery, and the Hellish Reality of Radical Islam* (Washington: Regnery Publishing, 2015), p.12.
- ⁹ Kalev Leetarujune, "Tracking the Islamic State-With Words," *Foreign Policy*, 19 June 2015, http://foreignpolicy.com/2015/06/19/islamc-state-big-data-middle-east/.
- ¹⁰ Peter Baker and NEIL MacFARQUHAR, "Obama Sees Russia Failing in Syria Effort," New York Times, 2 October 2015. http://www.nytimes.com/2015/10/03/world/middleeast/syria-russia-airstrikes.html.
- ¹¹ "Syria airstrikes: Russian military claims it has hit 86 ISIS targets, destroying 'most' munitions and heavy weapons," *Belfast Telegraph Co UK*, 13 October 2015, <http://www.belfasttelegraph.co.uk/news/worldnews/syria-air-strikes-russian-military-claims-it-has-hit-86-isis-targetsdestroying-most-munitions-and-heavy-weapons-31608127.html>.
- ¹² Holly Yan and Melissa Gray, "Putin: Russian airstrikes in Syria aimed at helping al-Assad regime," CNN, 12 October 2015 <http://www.cnn.com/2015/10/12/world/syria-russia-airstrikes/>.

- ¹³ Edward Delman, "The Link Between Putin's Military Campaigns in Syria and Ukraine," *The Atlantic*, 2 October 2015, http://www.theatlantic.com/international/archive/2015/10/navy-base-syria-crimea-putin/408694/>.
- ¹⁴ Lizzie Dearden, "Chechen ISIS fighters under Omar al-Shishani threaten to take fight to Putin," *Independent Co UK*, 10 October 2014, <<u>http://www.independent.co.uk/news/world/middle-east/chechen-isis-</u> fighters-under-omar-al-shishani-threaten-to-take-fight-to-putin-9787809. <u>html></u>.
- ¹⁵ Mushtaq Yusufzai, "Six TTP commanders pledge allegiance to ISIS," *The News*, 15 October 2014; and "Nigeria's Boko Haram pledges allegiance to Islamic State," *BBC News*, 7 March 2015, http://www.bbc.com/news/world-africa-31784538>.
- ¹⁶ Zachary Laub and Jonathan Masters, "The Islamic State," *Council on Foreign Relations*, 18 May 2015 http://www.cfr.org/iraq/islamic-state/p14811>.
- ¹⁷ Anwar Iqbal, "Terror war killed 80,000 during 2005-13: report," *Dawn*, 1 April 2015.
- ¹⁸ Mehtab Haider, "Dar says Pakistan lost \$100 bn in war on terror," *The News*, 13 December 2013.
- ¹⁹ Geoff Dyer and Chloe Sorvino, "\$1tn cost of longest US war hastens retreat from military intervention," *The Financial Times*, 14 December 2014, http://www.ft.com/intl/cms/s/2/14be0e0c-8255-11e4-ace7-00144feabdc0.html#slide0>.
- ²⁰ Mubashir Zaidi, "IS recruiting thousands in Pakistan, govt warned in 'secret' report," *Dawn*, 8 November 2014.
- ²¹ Ibid.
- ²² "A year on, 2,763 militants killed in Operation Zarb-e-Azb: ISPR," *The Express Tribune*, 13 June 2015, .
- ²³ Mushtaq Yusufzai, "Six TTP commanders pledge allegiance to ISIS," *The News*, 15 October 2014.
- ²⁴ Ibid.

- ²⁵ Tahir Khan, "TTP Bajaur declares allegiance to Islamic State," *The Express Tribune*, 9 April 2015, http://tribune.com.pk/story/867113/ttp-bajaur-declares-allegiance-to-islamic-state/.
- ²⁶ Roohan Ahmed, "ISIS presence in Pak-Afghan region: An unresolved mystery," *The News*, 25 May 2015.
- ²⁷ Ibid.
- ²⁸ Don Rassler, "Situating the Emergence of the Islamic State of Khorasan," *Combating Terrorism Centre*, 19 March 2015, https://www.ctc.usma.edu/posts/situating-the-emergence-of-the-islamic-state-of-khorasan.
- ²⁹ "Lashkar-e-Jhangvi" *Stanford Edu*, 19 June 2015, http://www.stanford.edu/group/mappingmilitants/cgi-bin/groups/view/215.
- ³⁰ Salis bin Perwaiz, "Safoora Goth attackers were inspired by IS," *The News*, 2 July 2015.
- ³¹ Kashif Mumtaz, "The Middle East in a Flux: How Should Pakistan Respond?" *Institute of Strategic Studies Islamabad*, 18 June 2015, http://issi.org.pk/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/Issue-brief-dated-18-6-2015.pdf>.
- ³² "IS not a threat to Pakistan: Peshawar Corps Commander," *Dawn News*, 14 March 2015.
- ³³ "Even shadow of Daesh not to be allowed: Gen Raheel," *The News*, 4 October 2015.
- ³⁴ "A year on, 2,763 militants killed in Operation Zarb-e-Azb: ISPR," *The Express Tribune*, 13 June 2015, .
- ³⁵ "One year of Zarb-e-Azb: Militant attacks down by 50 per cent," *Pakistan Observer*, 18 June 2015, http://pakobserver.net/ detailnews.asp?id= 266723>.
- ³⁶ Sharafat Ali Chaudhary and Mehran Ali Khan Wazir, "Peace building in Federally Administered Tribal Areas (Fata) of Pakistan: Conflict Management at State Level," *Tigah*, Volume: II, 2012, pp.124, 148, http://frc.com.pk/wp-content/uploads/2013/01/81.pdf.

- ³⁷ Shams Uz Zaman, "Rise of the Non-State Actors in Middle East: Regional Dimensions," *IPRI Journal* XV, No. 1, 2015, http://www.ipripak.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/04/3-article-w15.pdf. p 63>.
- ³⁸ "ISIS recruiting in Pakistan, Afghanistan: NATO," *Daily Times*, 25 May 2015.
- ³⁹ Ibid.
- ⁴⁰ David S. Cloud, "Islamic State could trip up U.S. plans to leave Afghanistan," *Los Angeles Times*, 19 July 2015, http://www.latimes.com/world/afghanistan-pakistan/la-fg-afghanistan-us-dempsey-20150719-story.html>.
- ⁴¹ Kristina Wong, "Pentagon acknowledges ISIS spread to Afghanistan amid US troop drawdown," *The Hill*, 12 February 2015, http://thehill.com/policy/defense/232588-pentagon-isis-nascent-in-afghanistan.
- ⁴² Patricia Zengerle, "New Afghan president warns of 'terrible threat' from Islamic State," *Reuters*, 25 March 2015, http://www.reuters.com/article/2015/03/25/us-afghanistan-usa-idUSKBN0ML27220150325.
- ⁴³ Lynne O Donnell, "ISIS reportedly moves into Afghanistan, is even fighting Taliban," *Seattle Times*, 12 January 2015, .
- ⁴⁴ "Afghanistan drone strike kills IS Commander Abdul Rauf," *BBC News*, 9 February 2015, http://www.bbc.com/news/world-asia-31290147>.
- ⁴⁵ Ibid.
- ⁴⁶ "ISIS reportedly teams up with another terror organization as they move in on Afghanistan," *Fox News*, 20 May 2015, <<u>http://www.foxnews.com/</u> politics/2015/05/20/isis-reportedly-teams-up-with-another-terrororganization-as-move-in-on/>.
- ⁴⁷ Ibid.
- ⁴⁸ Charles Recknagel, "Explainer: Key Points In U.S.-Afghan Bilateral Security Agreement," *Rferl Org*, 30 September 2014, http://www.rferl.org/content/explainer-bsa-afghan-us-security-agreement-bsa/26613884.html>.

- ⁴⁹ Joseph Goldstein, "In ISIS, the Taliban Face an Insurgent Threat of Their Own," *The New York Times*, 4 June 2015, .
- ⁵⁰ Mirwais Adeel, "Hekmatyar's party to support ISIS in fight against Taliban," *Khaama Press*, 5 July 2015, http://www.khaama.com/hekmatyars-party-to-support-isis-in-fight-against-taliban-1250>.
- ⁵¹ Hameed Hakimi, "The Need for Evidence-Based Narratives around Afghanistan's Youth," *Asia Foundation*, 19 November 2014, .
- ⁵² Ibid.
- ⁵³ Samuel Smith, "ISIS Establishes Post in Afghanistan Run by Former Guantanamo Bay Detainee," *Christian Post* <<u>http://www.christianpost.</u> com/news/isis-establishes-post-in-afghanistan-run-by-former-guantanamobay-detainee-132649/>.
- ⁵⁴ Liana Rosen and Kenneth Katzman, "Afghanistan: Drug Trafficking and the 2014 Transition," *Congressional Research Service*, 9 May 2014, http://www.fas.org/sgp/crs/row/R43540.pdf, p.1.
- ⁵⁵ Ibid.
- ⁵⁶ Hakan Demirbuken et.al, "The Global Afghan opium Trade: A Threat Assessment," *United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime*, July 2011, https://www.unodc.org/documents/data-and-analysis/Studies/Global_Afghan_Opium_Trade_2011-web.pdf>, p.5.
- ⁵⁷ "Fearing IS, Afghan Shias seek help from Taliban," *Dawn*, 22 March 2015.
- ⁵⁸ "ISIS kidnaps dozens in Afghanistan, official says," CBS NEWS, 24 February 2015, <http://www.cbsnews.com/news/isis-reportedly-kidnaps-30-hazara-shiites-in-afghanistan-zabul-province/>.
- ⁵⁹ Fawad A Nazami, "Afghan-Indo alliance: Seeking Guarantor for Afghanistan's National Security," *Journal of South Asian Studies*, Vol.03, No, 01, 2015, p.29.
- ⁶⁰ Baqir Sajjad Syed, "ISI, Afghan intelligence in landmark deal," *Dawn*, 19 May 2015.

- ⁶¹ Dave Andrews, *The Jihad of Jesus: The Sacred Nonviolent Struggle for Justice*, (Eugene: WIPF and Stock Publishers, 2015), p.94.
- ⁶² Marisa L. Porges, "The Saudi Deradicalization Experiment," *Council on Foreign Relations*, 22 January 2010, <<u>http://www.cfr.org/</u> radicalization-and-extremism/saudi-deradicalization-experiment/ p21292>; and John G. Horgan, "De-radicalization programs offer hope in countering terrorism," *Los Angeles Times*, 13 February 2015 <<u>http://www.latimes.com/</u> opinion/op-ed/la-oe-0215-horgan-terrorist-deradicalization-20150215-story.html>.
- ⁶³ Ahmad Ali Naqvi, Shah Zaman Khan and Zainab Ahmad, "The Impact of Militancy on Education in FATA," *TIGAH*, Volume: II, December 2012, p.33.
- ⁶⁴ Noreen Naseer, "Trade as an Instrument of Peace Building (Pakistan, Afghanistan and India)," *PUTAJ Humanities and Social Sciences* Vol.21, No.2, 2014, p.4.
- ⁶⁵ Shuja Nawaz, "Fata A most dangerous place on earth," *Centre for Strategic and International Studies,* January 2009 http://csis.org/files/media/csis/pubs/081218_nawaz_fata_web.pdf, p.5.
- ⁶⁶ Zahid Shahab Ahmed and Stuti Bhatnagar, "Conflict or Cooperation? The Role of India and Pakistan in Post-2014 Afghanistan," *South Asian Studies*, Vol. 30, No.1, January 2015, http://pu.edu.pk/images/ journal/csas/PDF/18%20Zahid%20Shahab%20Ahmed_30_1.pdf>, p.273.
- ⁶⁷ Baqir Sajjad Syed, "Offer to train Afghan troops renewed," *Dawn*, 7 November 2014.